
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

21 January 2010 

 

Gary Sawyer 

General Manager  
City of Canada Bay Council 
1a Marlborough Street 

DRUMMOYNE NSW 2047 
 

 

Dear Gary, 

RE: Breakfast Point, Powerhouse Demolition and Redevelopment Proposal 

Following your meeting with Mr. Bryan Rose and Mr. Nick Jackman on 11 December 2009 we attach a 
summary of the proposal for the demolition of the existing Powerhouse building, rezoning of the land for 
residential use and construction of six freestanding homes. 
 
We put forward a counter offer of a sum of $1,200,000.00 (One million two hundred thousand dollars) to be 
granted under a Voluntary Planning Agreement in lieu of the dedication of part of the Power House and 
curtilage. An appraisal summary supporting the fairness of this offer is contained within Annexure I of the 
attached report. 
 
We request Council’s consideration of this offer. 
 
Should you have any queries regarding the above please do not hesitate to contact the undersigned. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 

Ray Kearns 
Development Manager 

Rosecorp Management Services Pty Ltd ACN 092 138 504 
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Executive Summary 
 
 

The Power House building is located at 97-99 Peninsula Drive, Breakfast Point. It is included in the part of the 
Breakfast Point site that has been called in by the NSW Minister for Planning.  
 
The Power House building is a scheduled ‘Heritage Item’ under Concord LEP No 91.  
 
The Breakfast Point Concept Plan approval requires within 12 months of the date of the approval the 
Applicant to make best endeavours to seek the dedication of approximately 240m2 of the Power House’s 
gross floor area and curtilage into the care, control and maintenance of Council. 
 
Preliminary architectural and structural engineering reconnaissance has revealed significant structural 
deterioration in the structure of the building.  
 
Feasibility appraisal of the forecast revenue and construction / ongoing maintenance cost estimates indicates 
the conservation of the existing structure and adaptive reuse to not be financially viable. 
 
It is Breakfast Point Pty Ltd’s opinion that demolition of the existing building and the redevelopment of the site 
for residential use may be more desirable to the surrounding residents and offer greater Public benefit than 
the adaptive re-use of the existing building.   
 
The NSW Heritage Office and NSW Department of Planning have reviewed the site and do not object to an 
application being made under Part 3A for approval for the demolition of the existing structure and 
redevelopment of the site for residential use providing the items of heritage significance are appropriately 
recorded and/or retained via an interpretive display within Breakfast Point  
 
Breakfast Point Pty Ltd seek Council’s support on this matter prior to any application being made to the NSW 
Department of Planning for the redevelopment of the site. 
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Concept Plan Approval 
 

 
 
Attached and marked Annexure A is a copy of the Major Project Assessment : Breakfast Point Concept 
Plan item 6.3.7 and Determination of Breakfast Point Concept Plan section 11 which relate to the 
dedication of the Power House and curtilage. 
 
Under these items it was contemplated that an agreement may be reached between Breakfast Point Pty 
Ltd and Council for the dedication of approximately 240m2 of the Power House’s gross floor area and 
curtilage into the care, control and maintenance of Council for the purposes of a museum. 
 
Attached and marked Annexure B are copies of preliminary drawings relating to the conservation and 
adaptive re-use of the building under the Concept Plan conditions of approval. 
 
Preliminary structural engineering reconnaissance by consulting engineers Hughes Trueman indicate 
that the existing building structure is in a severe state of disrepair. Attached and marked Annexure C is 
a copy of their preliminary schedule of structural works required to reinstate structural integrity to the 
building in order to allow the building to be brought back to a habitable state. 
 
Based on Hughes Trueman’s report and drawings provided in Annexure C consulting quantity 
surveyors WT Partnership prepared on 24 September 2008 a construction cost preliminary budget 
estimate to the sum of $4,500,000 + GST for the remediation of the existing structure and base building 
works for the described adaptive re-use (copy of WT Partnership’s Preliminary Budget estimate is 
attached and marked Annexure D). 
 
In this Preliminary Budget Estimate WT Partnership estimate the ongoing maintenance costs to the 
external fabric of the building to be: 

 
Note: The above costs exclude GST and any escalation in cost over time. 
 
Based on the above estimated costs and other reasonable revenue and cost assumptions feasibility 
appraisal of this scheme estimate the adaptive re-use of the existing building would over time be a cost 
(loss) to Breakfast Point Pty Ltd in the order of $4,400,000 + GST. A copy of this feasibility appraisal is 
attached and marked Annexure E. 
 
Under the Breakfast Point Concept Plan approval upon agreed dedication of part of the Power House 
and curtilage Council will become responsible for ongoing care, control and maintenance of that part of 
the building and cartilage. Over time this will be an ongoing running cost to Council. 

  



 
 

 
 
 
 
Regarding the adaptive re-use of the building for both Council’s and Breakfast Point Pty Ltd’s future 
uses it is our considered opinion that any commercial use of the building is impractical for the following 
reasons: 
 

 Limited on street parking is available for visitors to the building as the majority of on street 
visitor parking has been dedicated to current and future surrounding residential buildings; 

 
 There is insufficient space available for any off street parking; 

 
 Any commercial uses in the building, such as museum, café etc may cause nuisance and a 

reduction in privacy to residences within very close proximity to the building and will limit hours 
of operation; and 

 
 Access for garbage collection and/or deliveries to the building is limited. 

 
Given the above constraints it is likely that it will be very difficult to find a suitable tenant for the building 
and derive an acceptable revenue. This together with the direct construction costs render the proposal 
for the adaptive re-use of the building unfeasible to Breakfast Point. Also, given the ongoing 
maintenance costs to Council, it is likely the ongoing financial burden to Council resulting from the 
dedication of part of the building may outweigh any perceived benefit to the Public for the retaining of 
the building. 
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Proposal for the demolition of the existing building  
and redevelopment for residential use  

 
 
The Power House is located on a site area of approximately 5,000m2. 
 
We have reviewed various alternative proposals for the use of the building and/or land upon which it is 
situated and have formed the opinion that the best use for the Power House will be the demolition of the 
existing building, remediation of the parcel of land, rezoning to residential use and the construction of six 
individual free standing homes. 
 
Attached and marked Annexure F are preliminary details of the arrangement of the six new residences that 
may be constructed under this alternate scheme. 
 
Under this proposal for the redevelopment of the site we suggest that any items of heritage significance be 
retained within the Breakfast Point 15m foreshore zone and displayed with a plaque describing its history, 
technological advancement and role of the Powerhouse. Final selection of these items would be decided 
upon each artefact’s historical significance, whether that be its setting, stylistic, archaeological features etc. 
and whether the item presents a danger to users, occupants or public and any measures to conserve the item 
 including proposals of any conservation plan be made available to Council. Attached and marked Annexure 
G is a draft Breakfast Point Heritage Interpretation Strategy for the current and future retaining of any such 
heritage significant items. 
 
In lieu of the dedication of part of the Power House and curtilage to Council we propose that Breakfast Point 
Pty Ltd will provide a financial contribution under a Voluntary Planning Agreement for Council to use to 
support the costs of other Public facilities currently provided or which may be provided in the future within the 
City of Canada Bay. 
 
The NSW Heritage Office and NSW Department of Planning have considered this proposal do not object to 
an application being made under Part 3A for approval for the demolition of the existing structure and 
redevelopment of the site for residential use providing the items of heritage significance are appropriately 
recorded and/or retained via an interpretive display within Breakfast Point and that a Planning Agreement 
between Council and Breakfast Point Pty Ltd is in place. 
 
During the second half of 2008 an offer of $1,000,000 was made to Council as the sum proposed in lieu of 
the dedication of the part of the Power House and curtilage to Council. This offer was given in conjunction 
with information and calculations to allow Council to assess this offer. 
 
Council have since responded requesting a sum of $3,500,000. Attached and marked Annexure H is an 
appraisal summary for the proposed alternate scheme and including this sum cost requested by Council. This 
appraisal summary shows a return on cost of only 4.19%. Given the uncertainty of conditions present in the 
existing structure and risks of increase costs in demolition and remediation this sum renders the 
redevelopment of the site to be unfeasible for Breakfast Point Pty Ltd.  
 
As a final offer we propose to Council a sum of $1,200,000. Attached and marked Annexure I is a feasibility 
appraisal including for this sum.  
 
We consider this sum of $1,200,000 to be fair and reasonable, particularly given Council will relieved of 
ongoing burdening costs of maintenance which may be imparted otherwise under the Concept Plan scheme 
to dedicate part of the Power House and curtilage to Council and particularly given Breakfast Point Pty Ltd will 
be carrying all risk associated with the redevelopment of the site. 
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BREAKFAST POINT HERITAGE INTERPRETATION STRATEGY 
 
Canada Bay LEP 2008 and Breakfast Concept Plan 2005 listed the following as heritage items; 

1. Former AGL Office No. 1 
2. Former AGL Fence to Tennyson Road, Entrance Gates & Gatehouse 
3. Former AGL Meter Readers’ Office 
4. Former AGL Blacksmiths’ Workshop 
5. Former AGL Powerhouse 

 
However, Breakfast Point Masterplan 2002 & Breakfast Concept Plan 2005 listed the following (not a heritage item) 
to be considered for adaptive reuse; 

6. Filters Machinist, Carpenters Workshop (Plumbers Workshop) 
 
 
HISTORY OF THE SITE 
 
Mortlake gasworks was planned by the Australian Gaslight Company (AGL) in 1883 and was the largest gas 
manufacturing plant in the southern hemisphere. From 1886 to 1971 the plant produced coal gas released by 
heating coal in retorts sealed off from the air. The buildings and structures on site underwent constant change in 
response to technological change and the need to increase production.  
By the 1980s when the reforming of natural gas to town gas ceased at Mortlake, only 2 retort houses remained and 
ancillary buildings such as the Blacksmith’s shop, the Power Station, the Workshop Building, Kendall Bay Wharf 
and the Stone Retaining Wall which separates the upper site from the lower. 
 
 
INTERPRETATION STRATEGY 
 
The proposed interpretation strategy in the absence of the Powerhouse includes; 
(Refer to Breakfast Point Heritage Map) 

1. The retention and adaptive reuse of heritage buildings or structures (No. 1 1 1 1 ––––    4 + 4 + 4 + 4 + 6666), which are culturally 
significant, structurally sound, and financially feasible. 

2. The erection of plaque adjacent to each heritage building or structure (No. 1 1 1 1 ––––    5 + 5 + 5 + 5 + 6666) within the street verge, 
with brief information of the history and role of the building in the gasworks operation 

3. An archival recording of the Powerhouse building comprising measured drawings & photographic survey of the 
building & remnants of industrial equipment was conducted in 2008. A reinforced concrete roof truss is 
proposed to be preserved and displayed along the foreshore walk with a plaque describing its history, 
construction technology and role (No.7777). 

4. An industrial archaeologist to be appointed to assess significant artefacts and determine their technological 
significance and role in the gas production process. 

5. Display of significant industrial artefacts along the foreshore walk with relevant information board, to be 
integrated into the landscape design (No.    8888). 

6. The Kendall Bay Wharf plaques are currently placed where the original wharf used to be located (No. 9999). 
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Breakfast Point Heritage Map. 

 
 
 
1. Retention of External Wall 
 
This brick boundary wall with engaged piers and spandrels was constructed by JJ Hughes in 1927. It is 
approximately 3.5 meters high and built in well fired pressed bricks with light coloured mortar, in a series of 
standard panels which step down to the Parramatta River.  
 

 
Brick fence to Tennyson Road 

 
 
2. Adaptive Reuse of the Gate House & Retention of Entrance Gates 
 
History 
The Gate House sits on the main entry to the Mortlake Gasworks, built in the late 1920s or early 1930’s. A gable 
roofed rectangular brick building of about 12m x 5 m, with semi circular projection to the western end as 
approached from the main entry. The Gate Keeper’s room is in the projection at the eastern end, elevated some 
400mm higher than rest of internal floor level, with extremely good visibility.  
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Gate House 

 
  

Entrance Gates 

 
 
 
3. Adaptive Reuse of Main Office (Office No. 1) 
 
History 
This office was erected to replace the original 1885 office. Commissioned to HT Seymour in 1914, it was completed 
and taken over in 1915. It is 5 bays long and symmetrical about the central gable. A western extension to this 
building, creating the present form dates from 1924.  

 
Office No. 1 

 
 
4. Adaptive Reuse of the Meter Reader’s Office 
 
History 
The single storey brick and slate building was constructed in 1924. It has pilasters and large overhanging eaves, 
which are supported by wooden brackets. Formerly contained three sections separated by roofed walk through 
bays to hold the time keeping appointments.  
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Meter Readers Office 

 
 
5. The Adaptive Reuse of the Plumbers Workshop 
 
History 
The two storey Plumbers Shop and store was erected by HT Seymour in 1915, initially attached to the low building, 
which was divided into  fitters, machinists and carpenters workshops. It was positioned against the main road 
leading from the upper part of the site to the lower. Furnished with a range of machine tools, the workshops were 
self-contained and self-supporting. In 1955, the workshops operated for repairs and maintenance, and together 
with other shops on site accommodated 750 tradesmen and their assistants. Towards the end of its operation, the 
top level was converted from store into offices, and the southern part used as a training centre. 

 
Plumbers Workshop  

The building is currently proposed to be adaptively re-used for residential purposes. 
 
 
6. The Adaptive Reuse of the Blacksmiths’ Shop 
 
History 
The Blacksmiths shop was erected as general workshop in late 1891. Here lathes, planing, drilling and other 
machine operations were used to finish rough castings supplied by local foundries. It underwent renovation in 1922, 
upgraded during post World War II, and most recently refurbished as part of the post coal carbonisation-
beautification scheme over the whole site. The Blacksmiths Workshop is to be adaptively re-used for commercial 
purposes. 
 

 
The Blacksmiths Shop 
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7. The Powerhouse 
 
History  
The 1911 – 1918 major expansion of the Mortlake’s plant incorporated the very modern continuous vertical retorts 
served by the Telfer system powered by electricity. The Powerhouse was constructed to provide reliable power to 
be used throughout the mechanisation processes, instead of over stretched Government power supply. The 
Powerhouse was designed and constructed by the engineering firm of Stone and Siddeley using reinforced concrete 
technology. Steel work and retorts were supplied by West Gas Improvement Company and the Telfer system by 
Adolf Bleichert and Company. 
From the 1950s onwards AGL relied on the domestic electricity grid and the Powerhouse became more of a 
switching station rather than a generating station. By 1968 the Powerhouse ceased to operate, and was later used 
as a pattern store. The eastern section of the building was removed late 1970s – early 1980s. 
 

 
The Powerhouse 

 
Reinforced concrete roof truss inside the Power House 

A section of the reinforced concrete truss to be preserved and displayed along the foreshore walk with a plaque 
describing its history, technological advancement and role of the Powerhouse. 
 

 
Proposed location of concrete truss, to be integrated into the landscape. Refer to the Heritage Map on page 2. 
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8. Industrial Artefacts 
 
Various manufacturing equipment and tools have been left inside the Powerhouse. It is proposed that selected 
artefacts be placed along the foreshore walk (enclosed when necessary with a fence as per Breakfast Point 
standard) and integrated into the landscape. 
 
 

              
 

      
 

            
Some of the industrial artefacts left on site which may be integrated into the landscape along the foreshore walk. 
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9. Kendall Bay Coal Wharf Information Boards 
 

         
Plaques on the boardwalk close to the location of the Kendall Bay Coal Wharf. 
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